THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2016-GS-42-0169  
Appellate Case No: 2016-001651

---

RECEIVED

FEB 21 2017

SC Court of Appeals

The State, County of Spartanburg,

Respondent,

v.

Danny Vega,

Appellant.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

David R Schumpert III  
Post Office Box 16466  
Seneca, South Carolina 29679  
(803) 237-8384  
Attorney for Appellant

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the Court below err by failing to grant directed verdict when no evidence even alleged of central element of the offense in violation of the appellant's right to due process?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 20, 2016, an indictment was issued for appellant Danny Vega (hereinafter "Mr. Vega"). The matter was tried under a charge of violation of *Transportation of a Child under 16 years of Age/Custody Order* on July 14, 2016. Mr. Vega entered a plea of Not Guilty to this charge.

At both the close of the prosecution's case and again at the close of defendant's case, defendant's trial counsel moved for directed verdict in this matter.

At the conclusion of trial Mr. Vega was convicted on the aforementioned charge and sentenced to three years incarceration. On July 14, 2016 Notice of Appeal was submitted in this matter.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENTS

- I. BECAUSE EACH ELEMENT OF A CRIMINAL OFFENSE MUST BE PROVEN BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED FAILED TO GRANT DIRECTED VERDICT WHEN PROSECTUION FAILED TO EVEN ALLEGE THE ELEMENT OF TAKING OR TRANSPORTING.

The Constitution prohibits the criminal conviction of any person except upon proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358 (1970).

The standard of proof beyond a reasonable doubt, said the Court, "plays a vital role in the American scheme of criminal procedure," because it operates to give "concrete substance" to the presumption of innocence, to ensure against unjust convictions, and to reduce the risk of factual error in a criminal proceeding. 397 U. S., at 363. At the same time, by impressing upon the factfinder the need to reach a subjective state of near certitude of the guilt of the accused, the standard symbolizes the significance that our society attaches to the criminal sanction and thus to liberty itself. *Id.*, at 372 (Harlan, J., concurring).

"It is axiomatic that a conviction upon a charge not made or upon a charge not tried constitutes a denial of due process. *Cole v. Arkansas*, 333 U.S. 196, 201; *Presnell v. Georgia*, 439 U.S. 14. These standards no more than reflect a broader premise that has never been doubted in our constitutional system: that a person cannot incur the loss of liberty for an offense without notice and a meaningful opportunity to defend. E. g., *Hovey v. Elliott*, 167 U.S. 409, 416-420. Cf. *Boddie v. Connecticut*, 401 U.S. 371, 377-379. A meaningful opportunity to defend, if not the right to a trial itself, presumes as well that a total want of evidence to support a charge will conclude the case in favor of the accused. Accordingly, we held in the Thompson case that a conviction based upon a record wholly devoid of any relevant evidence of a crucial element of

the offense charged is constitutionally infirm. See also *Vachon v. New Hampshire*, 414 U.S. 478; *Adderley v. Florida*, 385 U.S. 39; *Gregory v. Chicago*, 394 U.S. 111; *Douglas v. Buder*, 412 U.S. 430. The "no evidence" doctrine of *Thompson v. Louisville*, 362 U.S. 199, thus secures to an accused the most elemental of due process rights: freedom from a wholly arbitrary deprivation of liberty." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S. Ct. 2781 (1979)

The Court in *Thompson* explicitly stated that the due process right at issue did not concern a question of evidentiary "sufficiency." 362 U. S., at 199. The right established in *In re Winship*, however, clearly stands on a different footing. *Winship* involved an adjudication of juvenile delinquency made by a judge under a state statute providing that the prosecution must prove the conduct charged as delinquent which in *Winship* would have been a criminal offense if engaged in by an adult by a preponderance of the evidence. Applying that standard, the judge was satisfied that the juvenile was "guilty," but he noted that the result might well have been different under a standard of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. In short, the record in *Winship* was not totally devoid of evidence of guilt.

The constitutional problem addressed in *Winship* was thus distinct from the stark problem of arbitrariness presented in *Thompson v. Louisville*. In *Winship*, the Court held for the first time that the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects a defendant in a criminal case against conviction "except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged." 397 U. S., at 364. In so holding, the Court emphasized that proof beyond a reasonable doubt has traditionally been regarded as the decisive

difference between criminal culpability and civil liability. *Id.*, at 358-362. See *Davis v. United States*, 160 U.S. 469; *Brinegar v. United States*, 338 U.S. 160, 174; *Leland v. Oregon*, 343 U.S. 790; *Cf. Woodby v. INS*, 385 U.S. 276, 285.

“The constitutional standard recognized in *Winship* was expressly phrased as one that protects an accused against a conviction except on ‘proof beyond a reasonable doubt . . . .’ In subsequent cases discussing the reasonable-doubt standard, we have never departed from this definition of the rule or from the *Winship* understanding of the central purposes it serves. See, e. g., *Ivan V. v. City of New York*, 407 U.S. 203, 204; *Lego v. Twomey*, 404 U.S. 477, 486-487; *Mullaney v. Wilbur*, 421 U.S. 684; *Patterson v. New York*, 432 U.S. 197; *Cool v. United States*, 409 U.S. 100, 104. In short, *Winship* presupposes as an essential of the due process guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment that no person shall be made to suffer the onus of a criminal conviction except upon sufficient proof defined as evidence necessary to convince a trier of fact beyond a reasonable doubt of the existence of **every** element of the offense.” *Jackson* at 315. (emphasis added)

“After *Winship* the critical inquiry on review of the sufficiency of the evidence to support a criminal conviction must be not simply to determine whether the jury was properly instructed, but to determine whether the record evidence could reasonably support a finding of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. But this inquiry does not require a court to ‘ask itself whether it believes that the evidence at the trial established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.’ *Woodby v. INS*, 385 U. S., at 282 (emphasis added). Instead, the relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. See *Johnson v. Louisiana*, 406 U. S.,

at 362. This familiar standard gives full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts. Once a defendant has been found guilty of the crime charged, the factfinder's role as weigher of the evidence is preserved through a legal conclusion that upon judicial review all of the evidence is to be considered in the light most favorable to the prosecution. The criterion thus impinges upon "jury" discretion only to the extent necessary to guarantee the fundamental protection of due process of law." *Jackson* at 318-19

In the present case, the statute Mr. Vega is alleged to have violated is S.C. Code Annotated § 16-17-495 (A)(1). As charged to the jury in this matter § 16-17-495 (A)(1) reads "When a court of competent jurisdiction in this state or another state is awarded custody of a child under the age of sixteen years, or when custody of a child under sixteen years is established pursuant to statute, it is unlawful for a person with the intent to violate the court order to take or transport, or cause to be taken or transported, the child from the legal custodian for the purpose of concealing the child or circumventing or avoiding the custody order or statute." See Trial Transcript, p173, line 20 – p174, line 3.

The unlawful act explicitly stated in the statute is specifically the taking, transporting, or causing to be taken or transported, of the child in question. This taking or transporting is not merely an element of the offense, it is the central act which is the basis of the offense. Without this taking or transporting or causing the same, this offense has not been committed.

The prosecution presented testimonial evidence that the child was taken and transported by Ms. Liddy. The prosecution's witnesses explicitly testified that they discovered the child in Mr. Vega's presence, but equally explicitly testified that they did not see how the child arrived,

nor did the prosecution present any evidence that Mr. Vega caused the taking or transportation of the child. Trial Transcript p. 68, line 16 – p. 95, line 16; p. 95, line 22 – p. 109, line 19; p115, line 2 – p. 121, line 23; p. 150, line 6 – p 155, line 13. Nowhere in the evidence in this case is it even alleged that Mr. Vega took or transported the child.

“That the *Thompson* ‘no evidence’ rule is simply inadequate to protect against misapplications of the constitutional standard of reasonable doubt is readily apparent. ‘[A] mere modicum of evidence may satisfy a ‘no evidence’ standard . . . .’ *Jacobellis v. Ohio*, 378 U.S. 184, 202 (Warren, C. J., dissenting). Any evidence that is relevant that has any tendency to make the existence of an element of a crime slightly more probable than it would be without the evidence...could be deemed a ‘mere modicum.’ But it could not seriously be argued that such a ‘modicum’ of evidence could by itself rationally support a conviction beyond a reasonable doubt. The *Thompson* doctrine simply fails to supply a workable or even a predictable standard for determining whether the due process command of *Winship* has been honored.” *Jackson* at 320

In the present case not even a ‘modicum’ of evidence was presented as to the element of taking or transporting. No evidence was presented, further taking or transporting was not even alleged except in the closing statement of the prosecutor. See Trial Transcript p. 166, lines 2-11.

Such closing statements are not evidence.

“The *Winship* doctrine requires more than simply a trial ritual. A doctrine establishing so fundamental a substantive constitutional standard must also require that the factfinder will rationally apply that standard to the facts in evidence. A ‘reasonable doubt,’ at a minimum, is one based upon ‘reason.’ Yet a properly instructed jury may occasionally convict even when it can be said that no rational trier of fact could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, and the same may be