ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001651

RECEIVED
JAN 30 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

DANNY VEGA,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia St.
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for directed verdict because evidence was presented from which a reasonable juror could find him guilty of custodial interference beyond a reasonable doubt.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the January 2016 session, the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for custodial interference in violation of Section 16-17-495 of the South Carolina Code (2015), 2016-GS-42-0169. He proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly on July 14, 2016. The jury convicted him as charged and Judge Kelly sentenced him to three years' imprisonment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Messiah L. was born in April 2015 to his mother, Alex Liddy, and his father, Danny Vega (Appellant). Based on a previous relationship, the South Carolina Department of Social Services (DSS) entered into a safety plan for Messiah L. with Liddy.¹ (R.70–71.) Part of the plan required DSS to be able to visit Liddy and Messiah L. (R.72.) However, almost a month elapsed during which Liddy failed to keep in communication with DSS or keep it apprised of her whereabouts. (R.72.) When DSS contacted Appellant by telephone to inquire about their whereabouts, Appellant informed DSS he had not seen either his child or Liddy since Messiah L.'s birth. (R.73.) DSS ultimately determined Liddy violated the safety plan because it was unable to locate her or Messiah L. (R.72.) Based on this violation, DSS obtained an ex parte order on May 4 for the removal of Messiah L., with custody granted to DSS. (R.77, 87.) Officials found the child three days later with Liddy and Appellant at Appellant's hotel room. (R.87.)

Appellant was arrested and charged with custodial interference and his case proceeded to trial. Officer Tony Brown testified he was notified about the May 4 order vesting custody in DSS, and he began looking for Messiah L. (R.97.) He eventually made contact with Appellant. When Officer Brown asked him where he resided, Appellant gave an address the officer knew to be vacant. (R.99.) Officer Brown thus requested Appellant come meet with him, but Appellant refused. (R.99.) Officer Brown told Appellant that if Appellant found the child, he needed to contact the authorities. (R.99.) Ultimately, Liddy and Messiah L. were discovered the following day at the Main Street Motel in Spartanburg with Appellant. (R.101.) Officer Brown stated it looked as if the room had been inhabited for "a couple days at least." (R.102.)

¹ It appears the safety plan was deemed necessary because Liddy and Appellant had another child who had been placed in foster care because it was born addicted to methamphetamines. (R.13–14.)

Investigator Fred Lux testified that he accompanied Officer Brown to the Main Street Motel when they found Appellant with Liddy and Messiah L. (R.117.) In accord with Officer Brown's testimony, he stated the room "was obviously occupied" and there were "baby items throughout." (R.117.) When Investigator Lux asked where Messiah L. had been sleeping, Liddy informed him she and the child were sleeping together in one of the beds. (R.121.)

At the close of the State's evidence, Appellant moved for a directed verdict, arguing no evidence had been presented he took or transported the child or caused the child to be taken or transported. (R.123.) He further contended there was no evidence he did anything to conceal the child. (R.123) The trial court denied the motion, finding there was circumstantial evidence to support the inference he violated the statute. (R.125.)

Appellant testified in his own defense. He stated that he was at the hospital the day Messiah L. was born and stayed long enough to sign the birth certificate. (R.130.) However, he claimed he did not see the child again until May 7, when he was arrested at the motel. (R.131.) He testified Liddy arrived at his motel room with Messiah L. that same day. (R.131.) Appellant claimed he had not been in contact with Liddy at all since Messiah L.'s birth but had spoken with Liddy's mother—who ostensibly informed Liddy about Appellant's whereabouts. (R.131–32.). He said he answered a knock at the door and found Liddy with Messiah L., a Pack'n Play, diapers, milk and formula, and bags of clothes. (R.131.) Appellant clarified Liddy had been dropped off because she did not drive or have a car, but he did not know who brought her. (R.131–32.) She just appeared at his door with Messiah L. and all the baby's necessities. (R.131–132.) He said within minutes after her arrival, the officers showed up and arrested him. (R.35.)

Appellant rested and renewed his motion for directed verdict, which was again denied. (R.148–49.) After closing arguments, the trial court charged the jury on the State's burden of

proving Appellant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt and the elements of the crime. (R.166–174.). The jury began deliberation, and Appellant renewed his directed verdict motion, which was denied. (R.177–178.) The jury ultimately found Appellant guilty as charged and Judge Kelly sentenced him to three years' imprisonment. R.180–85.)

ARGUMENT

The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for directed verdict because evidence was presented from which a reasonable juror could find him guilty of custodial interference beyond a reasonable doubt.

Appellant contends the State adduced no evidence that Appellant took or transported the infant and therefore his conviction violated his constitutional right to due process of law. Appellant misapprehends the legal question involved and the circumstantial evidence within the record.

At the outset, the State wholeheartedly agrees with Appellant's studied assertion that the standard of proof required in criminal convictions is proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Appellant lodged no objection below indicating his belief the trial court misguided the jury on this foundational legal precept; instead, the trial court articulated in its charge to the jury that: "to the extent the State relies on circumstantial evidence, all the circumstances must be consistent with each other and when taken together point conclusively to the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt." (R.170-71.)

Based on this undisputed standard, our Supreme Court of South Carolina has clarified that when "ruling on a directed verdict motion where the State relies on circumstantial evidence, the court must determine whether the evidence presented is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Bennett*, 415 S.C. 232, 237, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016). In considering the motion, "the trial court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and must submit the case to the jury if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced." *Id.* at 236-37, 781 S.E.2d at 354 (internal quotation omitted). However, where the evidence adduced raises a mere suspicion that the accused is guilty, a

directed verdict must be granted. *State v. Hepburn*, 406 S.C. 416, 429, 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013). In reviewing an appeal from a directed verdict, the appellate court looks to the existence or non-existence of evidence, not its weight. *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 593, 606 S.E.2d 475, 477–78 (2004). Where a defendant chooses to testify in his own defense, the appellate court must consider that testimony in addition to the evidence proffered by the State in reviewing the denial of a directed verdict. *Hepburn*, 406 S.C. at 431, 753 S.E.2d at 410. Section 16-17-495 makes it “unlawful for a person with the intent to violate [a court order awarding the custody of a child] to take or transport, or cause to be taken or transported, the child from the legal custodian for the purpose of concealing the child, or circumventing or avoiding the custody order” See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-17-495.

Appellant specifically argues the State failed to present evidence that he took or transported the child, citing to the failure of the State to present testimony attesting to how the child came to its current location. However, this contention fails to appreciate the nuance of a case based on circumstantial evidence, which allows the jury to make inferences based on the evidence presented. In evaluating circumstantial evidence, jurors determine whether the State has connected collateral facts to prove the proposition propounded; it is therefore a process more intellectual in nature than the evaluation of direct evidence. *State v. Logan*, 405 S.C. 83, 97–98, 747 S.E.2d 444, 451 (2013). Although Appellant repeatedly makes the odd assertion that the State failed to allege he took or transported the child, he misapprehends the testimony elicited. There is evidence Messiah L. was discovered in the company of Appellant and Liddy. Appellant testified Liddy had no independent means of transportation and acknowledges she did not arrive at his door unassisted. Somehow, Liddy appeared at the door with his child, a Pack’n Play, diapers, formula, bottles, and extra clothing. Appellant was evasive and untruthful with the authorities when they contacted him to inquire about his whereabouts and the whereabouts of his

child. Specifically, he lied about where he was living and refused to meet with police to help them find Messiah L. Additionally, although he was apparently in contact with Liddy's mother—who he claims informed Liddy of his actual whereabouts—he did not recommend officers or DSS contact her. Further, he never notified them as to the appearance of Liddy and Messiah L. even if events occurred as he stated. A logical inference from the evidence adduced is that Appellant transported them to the motel room, or at least facilitated that arrival and acted to conceal their whereabouts. This may not be the exclusive inference, but the trial court properly examined this issue in the light most favorable to the State and determined evidence adduced formed a reasonable basis from which a jury could find Appellant guilty. Accordingly, there was no error and the conviction should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.